

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Böhringer, Christoph; Keller, Andreas

Working Paper Energy Security: An Impact Assessment of the EU Climate and Energy Package

Wirtschaftswissenschaftliche Diskussionspapiere, No. V-335-11

Provided in Cooperation with: University of Oldenburg, Department of Economics

Suggested Citation: Böhringer, Christoph; Keller, Andreas (2011) : Energy Security: An Impact Assessment of the EU Climate and Energy Package, Wirtschaftswissenschaftliche Diskussionspapiere, No. V-335-11, University of Oldenburg, Department of Economics, Oldenburg

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/105020

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



Wirtschaftswissenschaftliche Diskussionspapiere

Energy Security: An Impact Assessment of the EU Climate and Energy Package

Christoph Böhringer and Andreas Keller

V - 335 - 11

May 2011

Institut für Volkswirtschaftslehre Universität Oldenburg, D-26111 Oldenburg

Energy Security: An Impact Assessment of the EU Climate and Energy Package

Christoph Böhringer* & Andreas Keller

Department of Economics, University of Oldenburg Ammerländer Heerstrasse 114-118, D-26111, Oldenburg, Germany *Email: boehringer @uni-oldenburg.de

ISBN - 978-87-92795-02-1

Contents

4	Introduction
7	Energy Security Indicators
8	Energy Security Price Index (ESPI)
9	Energy Security Import Index (ESMI)
9	Energy Intensity (EI)
9	Composite Energy Security Index (ESI)
9	Method of Assessment: Computable General
	Equilibrium Analysis
10	Non-Technical Model Summary
12	Data
14	Policy Scenarios and Simulation Results
14	Business-as-Usual Scenario
15	EU-20-20-20 Scenarios
17	Results
22	Sensitivity Analysis
24	Conclusions
27	References

1. Introduction

In June 2009 the Climate and Energy Package entered into force committing the European Union to transform itself into a highly energy-efficient, low carbon economy over the next decade. The package includes three major objectives collectively known as the 20-20-20 targets to be achieved in 2020:

- To reduce EU greenhouse gas emissions by at least 20% below 1990 levels,¹
- To reach 20% of renewable energy in EU gross final consumption of energy, and
- To increase energy efficiency by 20% (as compared to business-as-usual in 2020).

The main driving force behind the Climate and Energy Package was the EU's ambition to play a leading role in the battle against anthropogenic climate change. More specifically, the EU had hoped to push an international greenhouse gas emission reduction agreement during the Copenhagen climate change conference in December 2009 as a follow-up to Kyoto which is to expire in 2012.² Beyond climate change, energy security has been put forward by the EU as another justification for launching the Climate and Energy Package. Energy security ranks high on the policy agenda of many OECD countries with the popular notion that reduced dependency on fossil fuel imports will be good for the society.

EU policy makers have celebrated the EU Climate and Energy Package as a milestone for Europe's ability "to act for the benefit of its citizens" (European Commission 2009). The political self-appraisal may however be questioned from an economic perspective: Not only should there be a clear efficiency rationale for policy interference as such but also for target levels as well as the choice of regulatory instruments.

Regarding the climate protection objective of the EU package, at least the reasoning for policy interference is straightforward. On unregulated markets greenhouse gas emissions would be considered for free thereby causing a market failure as the social costs of emission use are not taken into account by private agents. Whether the EU should go ahead with unilateral emission reduction pledges at all and why the mid-term EU cutback target should amount to 20% can be debated given the global public good nature of climate protection and the large uncertainties in external cost estimates for climate change. Yet, the 20% target for the EU reflects the need for substantial global greenhouse gas reductions over the next decades in order to limit the rise in global average temperature to no more than 2° Celsius above pre-industrial levels. Likewise, it can be argued that unilateral action may increase public pressure for other industrialized countries and possibly also the developing world to follow suit in the battle against climate change. Fundamental economic concerns on the climate policy part of

- The EU confirmed its commitment to moving to a 30% reduction as part of a comprehensive international agreement on condition that other major emitting countries in the developed and developing worlds will undertake "comparable efforts".
- As a matter of fact, the United Nations climate change conference of parties (COP 15) at Copenhagen turned out to be a severe backslash to the EU's aspiration: Instead of binding emission reduction commitments for major industrialized and developing regions, Copenhagen brought about only a voluntary system of pledge-and-review.

the EU package therefore "only" arise from the actual policy implementation which makes emission reduction much more costly than needed. Cost-effectiveness postulates that the marginal cost (price) to each use of greenhouse gas emissions should be equalized, thereby assuring that the cheapest abatement options are realized. This could be achieved through a comprehensive EU-wide cap-and-trade system where emission markets work out the leastcost solution by establishing a uniform emission price. To achieve a single policy target only one policy instrument is required – an insight which has been established in more general terms through the seminal work of Tinbergen (1952) calling for the equalization of the number of instruments with the number of policy targets.³

EU climate policy practice, however, violates basic principles of cost-effectiveness. Firstly, the EU Climate and Energy Package which is the central piece of legislation to achieve the overall EU emission reduction target does not accommodate comprehensive EU-wide emissions trading. The EU foresees explicit emissions trading only between energy-intensive installations (sectors) under the EU Emissions Trading Scheme (EU ETS), which covers just around 40% of EU greenhouse gas emissions. Each EU Member State must therefore specify additional domestic abatement policies for the sectors outside the EU ETS in order to comply with the overall EU emission reduction objective through mandated country-specific targets for the non-ETS segments of its domestic economy. Since there are no tight links between the ETS emission market on the one hand and the non-ETS emission "markets" on the other hand, marginal abatement costs across these segments will typically not be equalized and substantial excess costs of market segmentation are likely to occur (Böhringer et al. 2005). Secondly and not at least because of the fragmentation into one ETS market and twenty-seven domestic policy regimes for the non-ETS sectors - the EU employs a broader policy mix instead of one single instrument to meet its climate policy target. Beyond emissions trading the EU builds upon the explicit promotion of renewable energy production and energy efficiency both in ETS as well as non-ETS segments of the economy.⁴ Efficiency and renewable targets have triggered a wide variety of policy measures across the 27 EU Member States including implicit or explicit subsidies to renewables, efficiency standards for buildings, and specific product policies such as banning incandescent light bulbs or patio heaters. From the sole perspective of climate policy the myriad of instruments used in the EU to curb greenhouse gas emissions is doomed to generate excess costs due to overlapping counterproductive regulation. If targets for renewable energy and energy efficiency become binding, they give an outcome different from the cost-effective solution generated by comprehensive emissions trading and thereby create additional costs (Böhringer et al. 2010).

Regarding the energy security objective of the EU package a rigorous economic assessment is tricky. In first place it is unclear of what "energy security" is supposed to be. Colloquially, energy security is often portrayed as reduced dependence on imported energy, most notably

³ While more targets than instruments make targets incompatible, more instruments than targets make instruments alternative, i.e., one instrument may be used instead of another or a combination of others.

⁴ The EU Climate and Energy Package includes a 20% target share of renewable energy sources in gross final energy consumption and a mandated increase of energy efficiency of 20% by 2020 along with the 20% greenhouse gas emission reduction target.

oil. Dependence on foreign energy imports is viewed as critical since the domestic economy becomes more vulnerable to international energy price spikes and strategic action from energy supply regions. It is therefore argued in policy circles that countries should rely less on imported energy or at least on energy from less reliable sources. The objective of energy security is then "to assure adequate, reliable supplies of energy at reasonable prices and in ways that do not jeopardize major national values and objectives" (Yergin 1988). From an economic perspective, Bohi and Toman (1996) link energy (in-)security to "the loss of economic welfare that may occur as a result of a change in the price or availability of energy". Yet, the public and scientific debate is hampered by a missing operational definition of energy security. The lack in definition directly translates into the lack of clearcut indicators for energy security. An issue that can not be adequately measured is difficult to improve. Nevertheless, the catchword of energy security persists as a policy driver of great rhetorical and practical importance serving as a common rationale for government actions. Economists as practical minimalists set out three reasons why government should intervene in the marketplace: to improve allocational efficiency, to achieve distributional equity, and to ensure macro stability. The efficiency rationale is all about correcting for market failures. With respect to energy markets, failures may stem from market power of energy exporting countries, insufficient hedging by private actors, or macroeconomic adjustment costs in the case of energy disruptions. It is arguable if such market failures are substantial and - if so - whether they can be cured efficiently through government intervention (Bohi and Toman 1996).5

The European Union started to take (narrowly defined) action on energy security in the late 1960s by obliging the Member States to maintain strategic oil reserves, followed up additional regulations specifically on oil use in case of supply disruptions. With the green paper "Towards a European strategy for the security of energy supply" (European Commission 2000) the European Commission intended to trigger the development of a long-term strategy for energy supply security and intensify cooperation between the Member States. The major concern was the growing dependence of the European energy supply on imports, foremost from the Middle East and Russia. Given the fuzziness of the energy security notion it does not come as a surprise that the EU Climate and Energy Package misses a clear metric for energy security as well as a conclusive efficiency rationale for market intervention. With the ambiguity on energy security it is impossible from a scientific perspective to derive pinpoint measures. Nevertheless, policy makers exploit the energy security argument to justify a myriad of measures for promoting renewable energy or improving energy efficiency.⁶ This becomes apparent in the EU Energy Security and Solidarity Action Plan (European Commission 2008) where the adoption of the 20-20-package is praised as an important step forward to provide future energy security in the European Union through a reduction of energy imports. More specifically, the Action Plan embraces:

⁵ For example, diversification strategies for energy supply to hedge against market power or unexpected physical disruptions are part of the daily business in private energy companies.

⁶ Such measures include bans on light bulbs or patio heaters, tax breaks for bicycle owners, standards for tyre pressure, or and tests for fuel efficient driving.

- energy efficiency because "[...] consuming less through energy efficiency is the most durable way to reduce dependence on fossil fuels and imports. [...] Energy efficiency has to be at the heart of the EU's Energy Security and Solidarity Action Plan."
- renewable energies because "All cost-effective measures that can be taken to promote the development and use of indigenous resources should form an important element of an EU Energy Security and Solidarity Action Plan. The development of renewable energy such as wind, solar, hydro, biomass energy and marine resources has to be seen as the EU's greatest potential source of indigenous energy."

Overall, the EU Climate and Energy Package sets a tangle of targets and instruments which reflects a multi-dimensional policy process. At the same time the package runs the risk of counterproductive overlapping regulation because policy does not become sufficiently explicit on the economic rationale and even definition of targets. Policy implementation of multiple targets furthermore calls for a careful assessment of spillover and inter-linkages effects of regulatory measures in order to improve the coherence of policy initiatives.

Against this background, our objective is to shed some light on the complex interactions between the multiple targets and policy instruments of the EU Climate and Energy Package. We are furthermore interested in assessing the implications of EU regulation on widespread energy security indicators to highlight the difficulties of the energy security notion from an economic perspective.

The remainder of this article is organized as follows. In section 2, we survey indicators for energy security. In section 3, we lay out the numerical framework for the quantitative impact assessment of the EU Climate and Energy Package. In section 4, we discuss results. In section 5, we summarize and conclude.

2. Energy Security Indicators

The pertinent literature on energy security suggests a variety of indicators to reflect the vulnerability of a country's energy supply. Lefèvre (2010) describes the causal links from energy supply insecurity to a potential welfare loss in four stages: When the demand for a specific fuel (stage I) is met by a supply from dominant or politically unstable exporters (stage II), there is a higher risk of price increase or price disruption for this fuel (stage III). This in turn will lead to welfare losses of the importing economy (stage IV). Many energy security indicators (e.g. IEA 2007; Frondel and Schmidt 2008; Lefèvre 2010; Löschel et al. 2010) refer to stage II and focus on supply-side characteristics such as the diversity of a country's energy sources or the diversity of energy suppliers. These indicators partly include risk profiles of exporting countries or the geological resource base of the energy source. The energy security price index (ESPI), as a prominent example (Lefèvre 2010), evaluates the situation on global export markets for the three fossil fuels crude oil, natural gas and coal, and relates them to the importance of the three fuels in the energy mix of an economy. Other indicators put the emphasis on the energy import dependency of a country. The argument behind is that in emergency situations a country may still be able to control the indigenous extraction of

energy resources but has no direct control over the energy imports. Therefore, the degree of import dependency (separately for each fuel or aggregated for all energy carriers) is viewed as an important indicator for energy security (ESMI – energy security import index). Another policy-relevant indicator, which captures at least part of the magnitude of the impact of energy price shocks on welfare (stage IV of the scheme above), is the energy intensity of an economy, i.e., the physical energy inputs needed to generate one unit of economic output (EI – energy intensity). In case of an energy price increase, economies with high energy intensity must spend more of their resources for energy and will thus face a greater welfare loss than economies with low energy intensity. The three indicators – ESPI, ESMI, and EI – can be combined towards a composite energy security index (ESI).

2. 1 Energy Security Price Index (ESPI)

The energy security price index (ESPI) developed by Lefèvre (2010; see also IEA 2007) is based on a political risk assessment of energy exporters and the market share of energy exporting countries in the global export potential for each fuel. The resulting (global) price risk for each fossil fuel *f* is expressed in a single index, the so-called $\text{ESMC}_{\text{pol-f}}$ (energy security market concentration index amended by a political risk rating). These fuel-specific indices are then multiplied by the share of each fuel in the examined country's total primary energy supply and added up to obtain one single number:

$$ESPI = \sum_{f} \frac{E_{f}}{TPES} ESMC_{pol-f} \text{ with } ESMC_{pol-f} = \sum_{c} r_{c} \left(\frac{2}{cf} \right)^{2},$$

where $\frac{E_f}{TPES}$ is the share of fuel *f* in total primary energy supply in the observed country, ω_{cf} denotes the share of export country *c*'s net export potential in global export potential of fuel *f* (in percentage points) and r_c is the political risk rating of export country *c* ranging from 1 (low risk) to 3 (high risk). The risk rating scales up Herfindahl's concentration index whenever countries are perceived as politically unstable: ESMC_{pol-f} is large when few high-risk exporters dominate the world market (the maximum of ESMC_{pol-f} is 30000 points). Note that ESMC_{pol-f} is independent of the country for which the energy security index is calculated since ω_{cf} only considers export potentials in a truly globalized market. The fuel-specific concentration indices ESMC_{pol-f} are then weighted by the share of each fuel in total primary energy supply of the country under consideration in order to obtain the aggregate ESPI indicator.⁷

In various regions, such as continental Europe, most gas contracts are still directly linked to oil prices. As a consequence the share of gas consumption subject to price formation on gas spot markets is multiplied by the concentration measure ESMCpol-GAS while the remaining share of gas consumption subject to prices directly linked to the oil price is multiplied with the concentration measure ESMCpol-OIL. For our ESPI calculation we adopt the ratings for ESMCpol-f used by IEA (2007) and Lefèvre (2010). For the projected magnitude of oil-based gas pricing in the European Union in 2020 we use a share of 50%, which is in accordance with IEA assumptions (2009).

2. 2 Energy Security Import Index (ESMI)

Another common indicator for energy security is a region's share of net energy imports in its total energy consumption. Since imports defy the control of a country, they are potentially insecure in times of crises. For the calculation of the energy security import index (ESMI), we add up the shares of (positive) net imports across the fossil fuels f (coal, natural gas and oil) in total primary energy supply⁸:

$$ESMI = \sum_{f} \frac{M_{f} - X_{f}}{TPES} \cdot 100 \text{ for all } f \text{ where } M_{f} > X_{f}.$$

The indicator ranges between 0 (no net imports of fossil fuels) and 100 (complete import dependency).

2. 3 Energy Intensity (EI)

The energy intensity of an economy is a demand-side indicator which measures the ratio of total primary energy supply over GDP⁹:

$$EI = \frac{TPES}{GDP}$$
 .

We report the numbers for energy intensity in tons of oil equivalent over million \$US. Values in 2005 for OECD countries vary between 100 and 200.

2. 4 Composite Energy Security Index (ESI)

The three indicators – ESPI, ESMI, and EI – can be combined towards a composite energy security index (ESI) capturing three different energy security aspects: the price risks to specific fuels, the import dependency on specific fuels, and the importance of energy in the economy:

$$ESI = \sum_{f} \frac{M_{f} - X_{f}}{GDP} ESMC_{pol-f} \text{ for all } f \text{ where } M_{f} > X_{f}$$

The ESI indicator thus represents an aggregation of the fuel-specific energy security market concentrations (including political risks) weighted by the shares of (positive) net imports of the respective fuels in GDP.

3. Method of Assessment: Computable General Equilibrium Analysis

The quantification of trade-offs between different policy targets and the impacts triggered by overlapping regulatory measures calls for the use of numerical model techniques in order to assess systematically the interference of the many forces that interact in the economy. Obviously, models of complex socio-economic systems require simplifying assumptions on system boundaries and system relationships. These assumptions drive the model results and

⁸ Note that no import risk is attached to the use of nuclear energy and renewable energies.

Higher energy intensities are viewed as indication for higher vulnerability to energy price shocks as
 GDP formation is more dependent on energy inputs.

thus the policy conclusions. Since there is considerable ambiguity in the choice of model assumptions and even in the selection of data, quantitative model results need to be treated with caution. While models are no truth machines, they can nevertheless help to put decision making on an informed basis rather than on fuzzy or contradictory hunches. The informational value of numerical analysis comes from robust insights and not from precise numbers: What is the sign and the rough magnitude of economic impacts and how can we rank alternative policy designs to reach some given policy target?

In general, there is no specific model, which fits all requirements for comprehensive impact assessment, but rather a suite of models or methods depending on the policy measure or issue to be assessed and the availability of data. However, when it comes to economy-wide analysis of policy interferences a strong case can be made for computable general equilibrium (CGE) models that have become a standard tool for economic impact assessment employed by various national and international organizations, research centers, and universities (Böhringer and Löschel 2006). CGE models build upon general equilibrium theory that combines behavioral assumptions on rational economic agents with the analysis of equilibrium conditions. They provide counterfactual ex-ante comparisons, assessing the outcomes with a reform in place with what would have happened had it not been undertaken. The main virtue of the CGE approach is its comprehensive micro-consistent representation of price-dependent market interactions. The simultaneous explanation of the origin and spending of the agents' income makes it possible to address both economy-wide efficiency as well as distributional impacts of policy interference.

3.1 Non-Technical Model Summary

In order to quantify the impacts of the EU Climate and Energy Package on economic performance and energy security indicators we build on a generic multi-region, multi-sector CGE model of global trade and energy use established by Böhringer and Rutherford for the economy-wide analysis of greenhouse gas emission control strategies (see Böhringer and Rutherford 2010 for a recent application and detailed algebraic description). A multi-region setting is indispensable for the economic impact analysis of climate policy regimes: In a world that is increasingly integrated through trade, policy interference in larger open economies not only causes adjustment of domestic production and consumption patterns but also influences international prices via changes in exports and imports. The changes in international prices, i.e., the terms of trade, imply secondary effects that can significantly alter the impacts of the primary domestic policy. In addition to the consistent representation of trade links, a detailed tracking of energy flows as the main source for CO_2 emissions is a pre-requisite for the assessment of climate policies.

The static CGE model used for our numerical analysis features a representative agent in each region that receives income from three primary factors: labour, capital, and fossil-fuel resources (i.e. coal, gas and crude oil). Labour and capital are intersectorally mobile within a region but immobile between regions. Fossil-fuel resources are specific to fossil fuel production sectors in each region. Production of commodities, other than primary fossil fuels is captured by three-level constant elasticity of substitution (CES) cost functions describing the price-dependent use of capital, labour, energy, and material in production. At the top level, a CES composite of intermediate material demands trades off with an aggregate of energy, capital, and labour subject to a constant elasticity of substitution. At the second level, a CES function describes the substitution possibilities between intermediate demand for the energy aggregate and a value-added composite of labour and capital. At the third level, capital and labour substitution possibilities within the value-added composite are captured by a CES function whereas different energy inputs (coal, gas, oil, and electricity) enter the energy composite subject to a constant elasticity of substitution. In the production of fossil fuels, all inputs, except for the sector-specific fossil fuel resource, are aggregated in fixed proportions. This aggregate trades off with the sector-specific fossil fuel resource at a constant elasticity of substitution. The latter is calibrated in consistency with empirical estimates for the supply elasticity of the specific fossil fuel.

Final consumption demand in each region is determined by the representative agent who maximizes utility subject to a budget constraint with fixed investment (i.e. given demand for the savings good) and exogenous government provision of public goods and services. Total income of the representative household consists of net factor income and tax revenues. Consumption demand of the representative agent is given as a CES composite that combines consumption of non-electric energy and composite of other consumption goods. Substitution patterns within the non-electric energy bundle are reflected by means of a CES function; other consumption goods trade off with each other subject to at a unitary elasticity of substitution, i.e. a Cobb-Douglas relationship.

Bilateral trade is specified following the Armington approach of product heterogeneity, domestic and foreign goods are thereby distinguished by origin.¹⁰ All goods used on the domestic market in intermediate and final demand correspond to a CES composite A_{igr} that combines the domestically produced good and the imported good from other regions differentiated by demand category (i.e., the composition of the Armington good differs across sectors and final demand components). Domestic production is split between input to the formation of the Armington good and export to other regions subject to a constant elasticity of transformation (CET). The balance of payment constraint, which is warranted through flexible exchange rates, incorporates the base-year trade deficit or surplus for each region.

Due to the limited data availability on non-CO₂ abatement options the current model version only tracks CO₂ which is by far the most important greenhouse gas in the EU. CO₂ emissions are linked in fixed proportions to the use of fossil fuels, with CO₂ coefficients differentiated by the specific carbon content of fuels.¹¹ Restrictions to the use of CO₂ emissions in production and consumption are typically implemented through exogenous emission constraints that keep CO₂ emissions to a specified limit or through CO₂ taxes. CO₂ emission abatement then takes

¹⁰ The only exception is crude oil, where we assume product homogeneity.

Emissions of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases can in general not be tied in fixed proportions to production activities – there are many technical possibilities to reduce emissions per unit of activity which makes the inclusion of explicit or implicit marginal abatement costs to non-CO₂ gases within an economywide CGE framework a more subtle challenge (see e.g. Böhringer et al. 2006).

place by fuel switching (inter-fuel substitution) or energy savings (either by fuel-non-fuel substitution or by a scale reduction of production and final demand activities).¹²

Given the paramount importance of the electricity sector as the major source of CO_2 emissions in the EU, the standard representation of power production through a single CES production (cost) function is replaced by a bottom-up activity analysis characterization where several discrete generation technologies compete to supply electricity to regional markets. The price of electricity then is determined by the production costs of the marginal supplier. Power generation technologies respond to changes in electricity prices according to technology-specific supply elasticities. In addition, lower and upper bounds on production capacities can set explicit limits to the decline and the expansion of technologies.

3.2 Data

The model builds on the most recent GTAP dataset (version 7) with detailed accounts of regional production, regional consumption, bilateral trade flows as well as energy flows and CO₂ emissions for the base year 2004 (Badri and Walmsley, 2008). The dataset also features a variety of initial taxes. As is customary in applied general equilibrium analysis, base year data together with exogenous elasticities determine the free parameters of the functional forms. Elasticities in international trade and sectoral value-added are based on empirical estimates reported in the GTAP database. Substitution elasticities between production factors capital, labor, energy inputs and non-energy inputs (material) are taken from Okagawa and Ban (2008) who use most recent panel data across sectors and industries for the period 1995 to 2004.

As to sectoral and regional model resolution, the GTAP database is aggregated towards a composite dataset that accounts for the specific requirements of international climate policy analysis (see Table 1).

Sectors and commodities	Countries and regions			
Energy	Industrialized regions			
Coal (COL)	EU-27 (EU)			
Crude oil (CRU)	USA			
Natural gas (GAS)	Japan			
Refined oil products (OIL)	Russia			
Electricity (ELE)	Other OECD countries			
Non-energy	Developing regions			
Energy-intensive Industries (EIS)	China			
Transport (TRN)	India			
Rest of Industry (ROI)	Brazil			
, · · · ·	OPEC			
	Rest of the developing world			

Table 1: Model sectors and regions

Revenues from emission regulation accrue either from CO₂ taxes or from the auctioning of emission allowances (in the case of a grandfathering regime) and are recycled lump-sum to the representative agent in the respective region.

At the sectoral level, the model captures details on sector-specific differences in factor intensities, degrees of factor substitutability, and price elasticities of output demand, in order to trace the structural change in production induced by policy interference. The energy goods identified in the model are coal, crude oil, natural gas, refined oil products, and electricity. This disaggregation is essential in order to distinguish energy goods by CO_2 intensity and the degree of substitutability. In addition, we consider explicitly an aggregate of energy- and emission-intensive industries which – within Europe – is subject to regulations of an EU-wide emissions trading system. All remaining industries and services are represented through a composite sector. Regarding regional coverage, the EU is treated as one aggregate region which dismisses the heterogeneity of economies across its 27 Member States but substantially relaxes data problems with respect to baseline calibration and details of regulatory practice. In order to capture terms-of-trade effects from international markets the model includes all major trading partners of the EU. All remaining regions are summarized within two rest-of-the-world composites.

The economic impacts of meeting the EU 20-20-20 targets in 2020 critically depend on the structural characteristics of the EU economy exhibited in a hypothetical business-as-usual situation without policy constraints. A simple forward projection of the model from the 2004 base year to some target year with regional emission abatement pledges (2020 in the case of the EU Climate and Energy Package) involves calibration to a steady-state where all physical quantities (including CO₂ emissions) grow at an exogenous uniform rate while relative prices remain unchanged. The virtue of a steady-state baseline is that it provides a transparent reference path for the evaluation of policy interference. Any structural change in the counterfactual can be attributed to the new policy. Such a steady-state forward calibration, however, lacks policy appeal since it does not comply with official businessas-usual projections although the assumptions behind the latter are often controversial or opaque. In applied policy analysis we are, however, typically confronted with projections for non-uniform growth rates and heterogeneous structural dynamics. Off-the-steady-state baseline projections may run against the high degree of endogeneity in economic variables CGE models stand for. The key challenge is to reconcile disparate and possibly contradicting values: For example, GDP growth estimates may be much higher than the projected increase in CO₂ emission. A plausible reconciliation under business as usual then requires the assumption of "autonomous" energy efficiency improvements triggered by baseline capital investments. Our model forward projection builds on recent projections by the US Energy Information Agency (International Energy Outlook - EIA 2010). The business-asusual structure of model regions (i.e. the reference situation without exogenous emissions constraints) in 2020 is based on projected energy input demands across sectors, future GDP levels, the international price trajectory for crude oil and the assumed structure of electricity generation.¹³ We furthermore account for the abolishment of the subsidies to indigenous coal production in the European Union, which are to be phased out by 2018.

¹³ The calibration procedure thereby solves for a revised baseline equilibrium in which energy demands and energy prices match the baseline projection while sectoral productivities adjust such that all sectors remain on the benchmark iso-cost line. This keeps the cost and expenditure functions as close as possible to the initial static technologies and preferences underlying the base-year calibration.

4. Policy Scenarios and Simulation Results

We quantify the effects of policy measures with respect to a hypothetical reference situation without these measures in place – the so-called business-as-usual (BaU) scenario. Policy impact assessment then involves (i) changes in parameters or exogenous variables that mimic alternative policy regulations, (ii) simulation of the new counterfactual equilibrium, and (iii) comparison of the counterfactual and the BaU equilibrium to derive information on policy-induced economic effects. Our primary interest is to investigate how the objectives of the EU Climate and Energy Package – i.e. emission reduction, renewable promotion, and energy efficiency improvements – interact with each other and thereby affect the economic costs of policy interference. If we keep with emission reduction as the only tangible objective under economic efficiency consideration, how do the additional targets and associated measures affect cost-effectiveness? Our secondary interest is to monitor the changes in energy security indicators induced by the EU Climate and Energy Package. While we do not attempt to provide any cost-benefit analysis on energy security, our quantitative analysis can provide price tags to changes in energy security indicators – irrespective of a more rigorous welfare interpretation.

4.1 Business-as-Usual Scenario

The targets of the EU Climate and Energy Package must be achieved in 2020, i.e., a decade from now. Impact assessment requires a business-as-usual evolution of the economy in the absence of the package. The critical importance of baseline projections is hardly addressed in the public climate policy debate. Baseline projections do not only determine the magnitude of reduction requirements but also the ease of adjustment. For example, the 20% emission reduction target of the EU Climate and Energy Package – stated with respect to historical 1990 emission levels – will translate in a higher effective reduction requirement from 2020 *BaU* emission levels should the EU economy have positive emission growth along the baseline.¹⁴ Table 2 reports historical data and projected *BaU* values for CO₂ emissions, total primary energy use, renewable share in power production and energy security indicators at the EU-wide level.

	2004	<i>BaU</i> in 2020
CO ₂ emissions (in Mt)	3965.0	4167.6
Total primary energy use (in Mtoe)	1838.2	1976.0
Renewable share in power production (%)	14.8	24.8
ESPI (price risk)	5560.9	6106.5
ESMI (import index)	50.0	50.9
El (energy intensity)	142.1	103.7
ESI (composite index)	527.4	453.5

Table 2: Historical and *BaU* values of key variables (*BaU* values stem from model simulations based on the GTAP database in 2004 and EIA projections up to 2020)

Also the ease of emission abatement is determined through the *BaU* value shares of inputs to production and consumption together with the underlying substitution elasticities (in partial equilibrium analysis the ease of abatement is graphically indicated by the curvature/steepness of marginal abatement cost curves).

It becomes obvious that the BaU stands out for a strong ("autonomous") decline in energy intensity which explains the rather moderated increase of CO₂ emissions by 5.1% between 2004 and 2020. In other words: Despite a projected substantial growth in economic activity the EU emission reduction target does not become much more restrictive along the baseline. According to IEO baseline projections the renewables' share in power production goes up by 10 percentage points which greatly relaxes the stringency of the respective 2020 targets. Compliance to all three targets – emission reduction, renewables' energy share increase, and energy efficiency improvement – can become much more difficult (costly) should the optimistic baseline projection not materialize.

The *BaU* evolution of energy security indicators between 2004 and 2020 show a heterogeneous picture. The ESPI which measures the price risk of total energy consumption rises by roughly 10% to 6106.5 points.¹⁵ The ESMI has a value of 50 in 2004, meaning that EU-27 imported half of its energy consumption in that year from abroad. According to *BaU* projections the energy import share increases slightly to 50.9% in 2020. As mentioned above the baseline development until 2020 stands out for substantial energy efficiency improvements such that EU energy intensity declines from 142.1 (toe / million \$US) in 2004 to 103.7 in 2020. The decline in energy intensity is the main driver for the improvement of the energy security composite index which decreases from 527.4 points in 2004 to 453.5 points in 2020.

4.2 EU-20-20-20 Scenarios

	Nominal	Effective		
	CO ₂ reduction pledges	CO ₂ reduction pledges		
	(% vis-à-vis 2005)	(% vis-à-vis 2020)		
EU-27 (Total)	15.5	19.6		
ETS	21.0	28.8		
Non-ETS	10.0	9.25		

Table 3: Nominal and effective emission reduction requirements for ETS and non-ETS

The EU Climate and Energy Package does not only set binding EU-wide targets for greenhouse gas emission reduction, renewable energy promotion and energy efficiency improvements but also prescribes to a larger extent how targets are shared across countries and segments of the EU economy. This is in particular relevant for EU emission reduction where the aggregate EU pledge is split down into a reduction target of 21% for energy-intensive industries covered under the EU ETS and a 10% emission reduction requirement for the non-ETS segment (taking 2005 as the reference year in each case).¹⁶ Table 3 indicates how baseline emission growth in ETS and non-ETS sectors translates into effective reduction requirements from 2020 *BaU* emission levels. Note that due to the lack of detailed data on

Note that the exogenous changes in fuel-specific price risks are taken from Lefèvre 2010 who expects the price risk for gas to decrease substantially due to the expected transition from a regional to a global market and the declining share of oil-indexed gas prices. Likewise, the expected price risk for oil increases due to the continued exhaustion of oil reserves in the industrialized countries.

¹⁶ The aggregate emission reduction adds up to a 20% cut vis-à-vis 1990 emission levels.

non-CO₂ emissions and non-CO₂ abatement costs we take CO₂ emissions as a *pars pro toto* for all greenhouse gas emissions in our model simulations. The effective emission reduction requirement for the ETS rises (as emissions in the ETS sector increase between 2005 and 2020) whereas the effective emission reduction requirement for the non-ETS sector remains almost constant.

The emission ceiling for the ETS sectors is implemented centrally through an EU-wide cap while the reduction target for emissions outside the EU ETS is distributed according to an allocation scheme that reflects differences in economic performance -measured in terms of GDP per capita – across Member States.¹⁷ The policy regulation for meeting the domestic non-ETS targets can be chosen by each Member State. There is no tradability or so-called "where-flexibility" in abatement between the ETS and the non-ETS sectors, which - as mentioned before - is likely to increase costs of EU climate policy. The excess costs might be ameliorated for ETS and non-ETS sectors through the access to CDM emission offsets although the latter has been restricted by the EU to enforce primarily domestic abatement efforts: The EU ETS can offset up to 50% of its overall emission reduction requirement from 2005; the non-ETS sectors are allowed to buy up to 3% of their 2005 base-year emissions. In our simulations, scenario CO2 picks up the differential targets for the ETS and non-ETS sectors as well as their respective CDM provisions. The default policy instrument for EU Member States to achieve emission reduction in the non-ETS sectors is a domestic CO₂ tax which equalizes marginal abatement costs across domestic non-ETS emission sources.¹⁸ Revenues from emission taxation and auctioning of emission allowances are recycled lumpsum to the representative EU household.

Beyond emission reduction targets the Climate and Energy Package sets national targets for renewable energy which collectively will lift the average renewable share across the EU to 20% by 2020 (roughly double the 2008 level of 10.3%). The national targets range from a renewables share of 10% in Malta to 49% in Sweden. Scenario *REN* mimics the promotion of renewable energy. As we do not distinguish between EU Member States and do not cover renewable energy use comprehensively, we impose a single EU-wide renewable target of 35% on the electricity generation sector. The higher target for power generation reflects policy demands for a substantially higher contribution in this sector compared to other segments of the economy. The target is achieved through subsidies to renewable power generation technologies; subsidies are financed lump-sum.

The mandated energy efficiency improvements under the EU Climate and Energy Package are taken up in scenario EFF where we demand that total primary energy consumption must decline by 20% as compared to the BaU level. Technically, the target is met through the imposition of a sufficiently high tax on primary energy use.

¹⁷ Targets range from 20% decrease of emissions for high income regions such as Ireland, Luxemburg or Denmark to a 20% increase of emissions for low income regions such as Bulgaria.

¹⁸ This assumption is rather optimistic with respect to cost-effectiveness of climate policy action. In EU practice, Member States are rather going for a bundle of command-and-control measures. Furthermore, we do not differentiated in our analysis between EU Member States such that the non-ETS CO_ prices are implicitly the same across all twenty-seven EU Member States.

Apart from the policy scenarios *CO2*, *REN*, and *EFF* that capture the different targets of the EU Climate and Energy Package in isolation, we combine these scenarios to assess the overall impact of the Climate and Energy Package and to gain insights into the implications of overlapping regulation. For the sake of brevity, we limit the combined scenarios to the subsequent imposition of the renewable target and the efficiency target on top of the emission target rendering two composite scenarios *CO2-REN* and *CO2-REN-EFF*. We furthermore consider a comprehensive emissions trading scenario *TRD* where marginal abatement costs are equalized across all EU emission sources. While the *TRD* scenario is still off from global where-flexibility (CDM limits apply and there is no extra-EU emissions trading with other industrialized regions) it provides some guidance on the magnitude of excess costs induced by the emission market segmentation under the current EU climate policy regime.

Table 4 summarizes the scenarios with their key assumptions.¹⁹

Scenario	Basic assumptions
Ball	Business-as-usual assumptions on economic growth, energy (emission)
ВаО	demand and electricity generation shares
	• 20% CO2 emission reduction target for the EU (as compared to 1990 levels
	• Segmented CO ₂ emission regulation with EU-wide emissions trading for
CO2	energy-intensive industries (EU ETS) and cost-efficient emission regulation
	for non-ETS sectors within each Member State
	 Limits to CDM offsets for ETS and non-ETS sectors
	 Lump-sum recycling of revenues from CO2 emission regulation
DEN	Renewable target share of 35% in EU power production (implemented via
REIN	subsidies for renewable power technologies)
FFF	20% reduction in primary energy use from BaU levels (implemented via a tax
	on primary energy use)
CO2-REN	Combination of CO2 and REN
CO2-REN-EFF	Combination of CO ₂ , REN, and EFF
TRD	As CO ₂ but without emission market segmentation

Table 4: Summary of scenario characteristics

4.3 Results

We first discuss the impacts of meeting the single EU 20-20-20 targets through specific policy measures captured by policy scenarios *CO2*, *REN*, and *EFF*. We then investigate the implications of overlapping regulation in scenarios *CO2-REN* and *CO2-REN-EFF* as we subsequently impose the additional targets of renewable promotion and primary energy reduction (energy efficiency improvements) on top of the CO₂ emission reduction target. Finally, we discuss how the various policy measures affect energy security indicators.

The economic implications of alternative EU 20-20-20 scenarios are reported in terms of percentage changes in key economic variables from their BaU levels. The central welfare indicator is the so-called Hicksian equivalent variation in income which denotes the amount

¹⁹ The use of nuclear power in the EU is limited to the *BaU* level throughout all simulations reflecting public concerns on the operation of nuclear power plants and the unresolved issue of long-term nuclear waste management.

which is necessary to add to (or deduct from) the benchmark income of the representative consumer so that she enjoys a utility level equal to the one in the counterfactual policy scenario on the basis of ex-ante relative prices. In our framework, the welfare change can be readily interpreted as a change in real consumption. For scenarios with binding CO_2 emission constraints, marginal costs of abatement are stated as CO_2 values in \$US per ton of CO_2 . Differences in marginal abatement costs across regions and sectors (e.g. ETS versus non-ETS) indicate scope for direct cost savings through increased where-flexibility.

Table 5 provides a condensed report on how the individual or combined implementation of the EU-20-20-20 targets affects economic welfare, CO_2 values in ETS and non-ETS sectors, and the performance on the three objectives of the Energy and Climate Package, i.e. CO_2 reduction, renewables promotion and efficiency improvements.

We start the interpretation of results with scenario *TRD* as a hypothetical reference for efficient EU climate policy design where marginal abatement costs across all EU sectors are equalized. The economic costs of meeting the 20% emission reduction target by 2020 are moderate. While baseline emissions in 2020 have to be reduced by 19.6%, a significant share of this reduction can be generated in the CDM market (around one third). This represents the maximum of CDM credits that is officially acknowledged as emission reduction by EU legislation, since CDM credits can be imported at low costs from abroad (in particular from China as the major CDM host country).

When we turn to scenario CO_2 , which reflects the actual climate policy regime, we can identify a difference between CO₂ prices in ETS and non-ETS sectors. For non-ETS sectors where abatement is rather costly (in other words the non-ETS marginal abatement cost curve is relatively steep) the maximum amount of CDM offsets depresses the CO₂ price to 33.5 \$US and there is no possibility for further cost reduction through trade with ETS (opposite to scenario *TRD*), where the CO₂ price is almost 10 \$US lower. The overall excess costs of emission market segmentation are small for our reference baseline assumptions.

As expected, part of the CO_2 mitigation is achieved through energy savings (efficiency improvement) – total primary energy use goes down by 7.2% (scenario *CO2*) and 7.1% respectively (*TRD*). The renewables' share in power production goes up from 24.8% in the *BaU* to 29.4% in the *CO2* scenario. The reasoning behind is twofold. Firstly, the CO_2 value for power production which is covered under the ETS leads to a substantial decline in coal power generation together with a drop in overall electricity production. Secondly, the absolute level of the CO_2 -free renewable power production increases by around 10%. Both effects are slightly stronger in the *TRD* scenario due to the higher price for CO_2 emissions in the electricity sector.

	TRD	CO2	REN	EFF	CO2- REN	CO2- REN-EFF
Welfare (% vis-à-vis BaU)						
Consumption	-0.17	-0.18	-0.17	-0.71	-0.20	-0.82
CO₂ Values (in \$US) and Emissions (%	vis-à-vis	BaU)				
CO2 value ETS	25.5	24.4			9.4	15.5
CO2 value non-ETS	25.5	33.5			32.4	
CO ₂ emissions ETS	-20.5	-19.4	-11.6	3.4	-19.4	-19.4
CO ₂ emissions non-ETS	-5.0	-6.2	-0.1	-10.6	-6.2	-11.3
CO2 emissions total domestic	-13.2	-13.2	-6.2	-3.2	-13.2	-15.6
CO ₂ emissions CDM countries	-6.4	-6.4			-6.4	-5.0
20-20-20 Targets						
CO_{2} (% vis-à-vis <i>BaU</i>)	-19.6	-19.6	-6.2	-3.2	-19.6	-20.6
Renewables share in electricity (%)	29.8	29.4	35.0	33.5	35.0	35.0
Energy use (% vis-à-vis <i>BαU</i>)	-7.1	-7.2	-0.8	-20.0	-5.6	-20.0
Energy Security Indicators (% vis-à-vi	s BaU)					
ESPI (price risk)	1.0	0.9	-1.7	15.9	-0.8	8.1
ESMI (import index)	-3.6	-3.8	-3.7	14.5	-5.6	2.9
El (energy intensity)	-6.7	-6.9	-0.8	-19.1	-5.4	-18.9
ESI (composite index)	-5.6	-6.1	-2.5	-8.4	-6.3	-13.6

Table 5: Summary of main results of the scenarios for 2020

Next, we discuss the implications of pushing the renewables' share in power production which reflects the second target within the EU-20-20-20 package. The costs of achieving the renewable target in power production are in the same range like the costs for compliance with the CO₂ target. Renewable subsidies have a distinct impact on economy-wide CO₂ emissions which decline by 6.2%. This is about half of the domestic CO₂ reduction under *CO2* (13.2%) where a significant share of emission reduction requirements is offset through CDM. Note that the CO₂ reduction in scenario *REN* stems almost exclusively from the decrease of CO₂ emissions in the ETS sector through the targeted share of 35% renewables in power production together with the distinct decline in coal power production. Compliance to the renewable energy target involves a moderate decrease of primary energy use.

The reduction of primary energy use by 20% (from *BaU* levels) as mandated in scenario *EFF* through the imposition of a comprehensive primary energy tax is by far the most expensive 2020 target to reach. It works as a blunt restriction to the use of energy which exerts a downward pressure on wages and capital rents (align with decreased factor productivity) translating in a substantial loss of real income, i.e., reduced welfare from consumption. While CO_2 emissions decrease together with energy use in the non-ETS sector, it comes at first glance at a surprise that CO_2 emissions in the ETS sector increase. The reason for this is the phase-out of nuclear power production in scenario *EFF*. Since nuclear power plants have the lowest energy conversion efficiency of all electricity generation technologies they are hit hardest by the tax on primary energy. Despite the decrease in gross electricity production the

phase-out of nuclear power plants implies an increase in output of CO_2 -emitting coal and gas power generation. The renewable energy share in power production increases to 33.5% and thus comes close to the renewable target.

Scenario *CO2-REN* investigates the economic consequences when a renewable target share (35%) in power production is imposed on top of the explicit emission reduction constraints for ETS and non-ETS sectors. Subsidization of green power technologies induces excess costs if we only value the CO₂ target. With the CO₂ target stand-alone the share of renewable power production increases by five percentage points (see scenario *CO2*) to roughly 30%. An additional five percentage points increase towards 35% as mandated by scenario *CO2-REN* makes power production greener than necessary. The restrictive renewables' target drives down the CO₂ price in the ETS sector by more than 50% (compared to scenario *CO2*) as the CO₂ quota becomes less binding. Joint implementation of the CO₂ target alone. The reason is that a larger share of emission reductions is achieved by a substitution across energy sources (fuel switching) compared to improvements in energy efficiency.

The simultaneous imposition of the three 20-20-20 targets (scenario *CO2-REN-EFF*) increases economic costs relative to the imposition of the energy efficiency target alone. While the renewables target is almost achieved by the efficiency target alone, CO_2 emissions in the ETS sector still must be decreased substantially. Although nuclear power production "only" drops by around 50% in this scenario and is not phased out completely since nuclear power contributes to achieving the emission reduction target. The CO_2 reduction target for the non-ETS sectors is already met through the efficiency target such that the price for CO_2 emissions in these sectors drops to zero. The additional welfare costs of the triple 20-20-20 scenario are relatively small as compared to the efficiency scenario *EFF* alone while the cost increase is substantial vis-à-vis compliance to the double targets of CO_2 emission reduction and renewable energy promotion. The cost gap widens further compared to fulfillment of the single CO_2 reduction target (and likewise the single renewable energy target).

We now turn to the implications of 20-20-20 policy regulation on energy security in the European Union. Section two introduced three indicators that can be used to measure three different aspects of energy security: the price risk to the fuel mix (ESPI), the importance of imports in fossil fuels (ESMI) and overall energy intensity of the economy (EI). Furthermore, the three indicators can be combined to a single composite indicator (ESI). While this allows monitoring a single number, the aggregation goes along with a loss of information – also in this case. Note that for each of the four indicators, a decrease in the value means an improvement in energy security.

The energy security price index (ESPI) takes up a value of 6106.5 points in the BaU scenario (see Table 2). In principle, the indicator can range between 0 (no price risk attached to the fuel mix) and 30000 (highest possible price risk attached to the fuel mix). Obviously, such an indicator on potential risks cannot be an objective assessment as it relies on subjective judgments concerning the classification of risks. Nevertheless, it can be informative to track changes of the indicator across the different scenarios and identify the reasons for these

changes. The energy security import index (ESMI) in the BaU scenario reports that 50.9% of the primary energy used in the European Union are imported fossil fuels from abroad. The energy intensity takes up a value of 103.7. The composite energy security index (ESI) then yields as the value of 453.5 in the BaU scenario.

With the implementation of the CO₂ target alone (scenarios *TRD* and *CO2*), the ESPI increases slightly by around 1%. There are some favorable effects on energy security compared to the *BaU* due to the increase in the use of renewables (no price risk) and the decrease in the use of gas (medium price risk) in the non-ETS sectors. However, these effects are not enough to fully compensate the increase in the overall price risk from the significant reduction of coal use (low price risk). In power generation, the output of coal power plants decreases by almost 40% while the output of the other non-renewable generation technologies stays roughly constant. These effects together lead to a higher share of oil and a lower share of coal in the fuel mix of the CO₂ constrained scenarios and therefore to a higher ESPI. The other energy security indicators show an improvement compared to the *BaU*. The import index ESMI decreases by almost 4%, reflecting lower imports of gas and coal due to depressed fossil fuel demand. Energy efficiency improvements that lead to lower CO₂ emissions reduce energy intensity (EI) by around 7%. The composite ESI which combines the three former indicators drops by roughly 6%. Overall, the beneficial effects from CO₂ reduction on energy security appear rather modest.

In scenario *REN*, energy security measured by ESPI slightly improves compared to scenarios *BaU* or *CO2*. Since renewable energy gains at the expense of fossil fuels, the price risk of the energy mix decreases. Similarly, imports are reduced, leading to a decrease of the ESMI comparable to scenario *CO2*. The effect on energy intensity is negligible since there are no strong incentives to implement energy efficiency measures. In sum this leads to a smaller reduction of the composite indicator ESI as compared to the *CO2* scenario.

The strongest effect on energy security indicators results from the implementation of the energy efficiency target. Scenario *EFF* leads to an increase of the ESPI by 16.9% and of the ESMI by 14.5%. While the absolute levels of all fossil fuels go down, the relative shares of coal, gas and oil in total energy consumption increase, most notably gas with a share of 19% in total primary energy supply compared to 11% in the *BaU* scenario. The reason is the phase-out of nuclear power generation in this scenario which is mainly substituted by gas and partly by coal power generation. On the contrary, the energy intensity indicator EI decreases strongly by 19.1% as a consequence of the primary energy tax. The latter effect dominates the reverse implications in the other indicators within he composite ESI, leading to a reduction by 8.4%.

For scenario *CO2-REN*, i.e., the combination of the CO_2 target and the renewable energy target, the effects on the single indicators are more balanced than if only one of the two targets is implemented. Energy intensity is decreased somewhat less than in the *CO2* scenario alone since energy efficiency improvements are partly replaced by fuel switching. The composite effects is modest with ESI falling by 6.3%. The effects for scenario *CO2-REN-EFF* are less pronounced than for scenario *EFF* alone but still ESPI and ESMI increase due to strong

decline in nuclear power generation. Together with the decrease in energy intensity, the ESI drops by 13.6%:

Overall, we find that the implementation of the CO_2 and the renewables targets of the 20-20-20 package leads to a decrease in the value of most of the various energy security indicators, implying a positive impact on energy security. However, the decrease of the indicators is very modest and the scenario outcomes are far off from EU energy autarky which might be regarded as the highest possible degree of energy security. The implementation of the efficiency target surprising leads to increased energy imports as well as increased price risks of the energy mix due to the phase-out of domestic nuclear power generation.

While the increase in energy security for most indicators and scenarios might be viewed as a desirable outcome by policy makers such a judgment is severely flawed. It is by no means clear how changes in energy security indicators should be valued by society or how it can be translated into welfare effects.

4.4 Sensitivity Analysis

In computable general equilibrium (CGE) analysis the impacts of policy regulation are quantified as adjustments in production and consumption decisions of rationally behaved firms and households. Technologies and preferences together with endowments thereby determine economic responses. For large-scale applications the lack of data prevents the econometric estimation of functional forms to characterize technologies and preferences. Therefore, CGE analysis builds on the use of sufficiently flexible constant-elasticity-of-substitution (CES) functions whose value shares can be calibrated from a single base-year economic dataset while elasticities are taken from the empirical literature. It should be noted that calibration is a deterministic procedure and does not allow for a statistical test of the model specification. Due to the reliance on a single base-year observation and exogenous elasticities, sensitivity analysis on reference data should be performed before concrete policy recommendations are derived.

Whenever policy measures apply to the future their impact must be measured with respect to a hypothetical business-as-usual (BaU) development without policy interference. The EU Climate and Energy Package requires its three major objectives – greenhouse gas emission reduction, renewable energy promotion, and energy efficiency improvements – to be achieved in 2020. Obviously, the costs of policy regulation will depend on the extent to which these 20-20-20 targets constrain the BaU development of the EU economy. Exogenous BaUassumptions do not only rule how far off the EU is from meeting its targets in 2020 but also the ease of adjustment through implicit changes in productivity and preferences along the baseline. For example, higher GDP growth projections will ceteris paribus lead to higher BaUemissions and thereby enforce more stringent emission reductions in order to comply with the 20% emission cutback requirement from historical 1990 emission levels. Likewise, optimistic assumptions on autonomous (costless) energy efficiency improvements can substantially lower the compliance costs to emission reduction or energy efficiency targets. Our central case simulation results in section 4.3 emerge from the reference growth projection by the International Energy Outlook (IEO). We can perform sensitivity analysis for alternative views on future GDP, emissions and energy demand building on the IEO high economic growth scenario or alternatively on the IEO low economic growth scenario. The high (low) growth scenario implies higher baseline emissions and therefore the effective cutback requirements increases (decreases) vis-à-vis the reference case inducing higher (lower) adjustment costs for the climate policy scenarios. The cost ranking of the different policy scenarios and thus our conclusions on the implications of overlapping regulation and the excess burden of restricted where-flexibility remain robust.

The ease of substituting away from (i) greenhouse gas emissions with respect to the EU's emission reduction target, (ii) fossil fuel use (with respect to the EU's renewable energy target) and (iii) more generally primary energy (with respect to the EU's energy efficiency target) is to a large extent governed through the choice of cross-price elasticities between factors (capital and labor) and intermediate inputs (energy and non-energy inputs) to production. In our model parameterization we adopt sector-specific empirical estimates for cross-price elasticities by Okagawa and Ban (2008). Regarding sensitivity analysis on elasticities we keep with these estimates and focus on the implications of alternative values for so-called Armington trade elasticities which measure how easily imports can substitute for domestically produced goods. In our policy simulations, the trade elasticities affect the extent to which the EU's domestically produced goods is displaced by imports from outside the EU when unilateral EU climate policies raise the costs of EU-produced goods. The Armington elasticities imply product heterogeneity which leads to changes in international prices when a large open economy such as the EU changes domestic policy. As pointed out in the pertinent literature the induced secondary terms-of-trade effects can even dominate the direct (domestic) effects of policy interference: For example, the EU may be able to pass on the costs of emission reduction via higher product prices for energy-intensive goods to trading partners. In the sensitivity analysis we either halve or double the Armington elasticities provided by the GTAP database for traded commodities. In the absence of terms-of-trade effects, the costs of climate policy regulation move inversely with trade elasticities, because countries can more easily substitute away from emission-intensive inputs into production and consumption (as domestic and imported goods are closer substitutes). Depending on a country's initial trade structure, international spillovers may strengthen, weaken or even outweigh the unambiguous domestic policy effect associated with a change in trade elasticities. This is because the trade elasticity determines the extent to which domestic cost increases can be passed further to trading partners. With lower elasticities, a country importing emission-intensive goods from a trading partner with high domestic emission taxes (or likewise quota prices) is less able to substitute away from the more expensive imports to the cheaper domestically produced goods. While the choice of Armington elasticities affect both the calibration of the model to exogenous BaU projections as well as the trade responsiveness to climate policy measures all of the qualitative findings from the central case simulations remain robust.

Our assessment of the EU Climate and Energy Package includes "sensitivity analysis" on the additional costs of segmented EU emissions markets (default setting – see scenario *CO2*)

compared to EU emissions trading across all segments of the EU economy (scenario *TRD*). Beyond comprehensive where-flexibility within the EU, the costs of emission reduction can be further reduced if the EU cancels supplementarity restrictions on CDM imports. On the other hand, the economic gains from project-based abatement measures may be reduced by transaction costs associated with abatement projects in developing countries. Such transaction costs can arise from a variety of activities associated with market exchange, including search and information acquisition, negotiation, monitoring or enforcement of contracts. In our central case simulations we incorporate country-specific estimates of project-based transaction costs for CDM credits by Wetzelaer et al. (2007). Transaction costs then enter the model calculations as an absolute premium on marginal abatement costs of CDM host countries. In the sensitivity analysis we investigate how the impacts of implementing the EU Climate and Energy Package change with alternative assumptions on the magnitude of transaction costs. As expected, lower values for transaction costs decrease implementation cost for the EU while higher values increase costs – yet for a larger range of transaction cost estimates the changes in results compared to the central case simulations are rather negligible.

5. Conclusions

In 2009 the European Union has launched the Climate and Energy Package. The package includes explicit objectives to curb greenhouse gas emissions, promote the use of renewable energy and increase energy efficiency. All three objectives are stated in 20% metrics to be achieved in 2020: a 20% greenhouse gas emission reduction from 1990 emission levels, a 20% share of renewable energy use in gross final consumption of energy and a 20% reduction of primary energy use vis-à-vis the 2020 business-as-usual level. The objectives are thus colloquially referred to as the EU-20-20-20 targets. The key driving force behind the Climate and Energy Package was the EU's ambition and commitment to play a leading role in the fight against climate change. Another – much more vague – policy justification of the targets and measures endorsed within the package is the pursuit for more energy security.

From an economic perspective policy interference into markets should aim to improve the market outcome – either in terms of allocational efficiency, distributional equity, or macro stability. If the yardstick is allocational efficiency – as put forward by the EU policy makers in the case of the Climate and Energy Package – then there must be a case of market failure and a convincing argument that policy interference can cure market inefficiencies. Regarding the climate policy dimension of the package, the need and effectiveness of appropriate policy measures to internalize the greenhouse gas emission externality is evident. One can debate whether a 20% reduction target by 2020 is a sensible number under marginal cost-benefit considerations but in view of uncertain estimates for climate change damages, the validity of risk aversion (i.e. a precautionary approach) and recent recommendations by natural science on "necessary" emission reduction efforts the EU climate policy target seems to be in place. This judgement though is difficult to maintain for the remaining two targets, i.e. the administered increase of renewable energy use and the decrease of primary energy use. What are the market failures that call directly for an increase of renewable energy and a decrease of primary energy use? Why should an optimal or cost-effective change amount to 20%?

If we focus on the climate policy target alone, then one would expect that efficient policy instruments such as a EU-wide cap-and-trade system will favor the use of "zero-emission" renewable energies and discourage the use of primary energy. But rather than EU bureaucrats prescribing the level of changes in renewable and primary energy use, the markets would endogenously work out cost-effective adjustments to meet the overall emission cap.

Energy security, which is brought forth every so often as another argument for promoting renewable energy and decreasing primary energy use, lacks a clear economic efficiency rationale. There is no unique notion and concept of energy security and there is hardly an attempt to provide some cost-benefit underpinning for claims towards more energy security. Drawing on fundamental economic insights of comparative advantage and gains from trade and specialization, the implicit policy proposition that a move towards more energy autarky would be necessarily beneficial is odd. Clearly, one should be worried about the dependence on foreign energy (notably oil) sources if strategic action or political tensions in other countries can substantially affect the price and availability of energy imports. However, if private action can not hedge at a socially desirable level it must be made clear why and to what extent public policy interference will do better. The energy security indicators presented in this study can at least help to sort out different aspects of energy security and give policy discussions a hint on what might happen when the 20-20-20 targets are implemented. However, the indicators have no direct link to economic welfare, so policy interventions into energy markets need more specific justifications than only improving the energy security indicators.

Apart from missing a comprehensive rationale for the triple EU-20-20-20 targets the problem with the EU Climate and Energy Package is the actual policy implementation. Economics provides some guidance on the cost-effective design of policy interference to meet a given target at least costs. Rules of thumb do not only suggest that market-based regulation usually outperforms command-and-control measures but that the number of instruments should be aligned with the number of targets. Along the example of EU emission reduction, the simple textbook recommendation is to equalize marginal abatement costs across all emission sources which can be easily accomplished through EU-wide emissions trading. Yet, in practice EU emission markets have been segmented and are subject to a myriad of measures which is likely to make EU emission reduction much more costly than necessary. The tangle of policy instruments and (in part unclear) targets endorsed through the EU Climate and Energy Package runs the risk of counterproductive overlapping regulation with substantial excess costs to EU citizens.

In this report, we have used model-based analysis to assess how various policy measures put forward by the EU affect the 20-20-20 targets and energy security indicators. Our quantitative framework allows to put some price tags on the isolated or combined use of policy instruments taking into account important spillover and feedback effect through economic markets. Obviously, models are only a crude approximation of the real world so we caution against too literal an interpretation of the numerical results. Furthermore, the economic focus of our model-based analysis may be much too narrow. In the end, the decisions how to resolve

potential trade-offs must be taken on the basis of societal values and political decisions but we believe that consistent and transparent model analysis can contribute to a more informed policy debate and hopefully better regulation.

References

Badri, N.G. and T.L. Walmsley (eds.) (2008), *Global Trade, Assistance and Production: The GTAP 7 Data Base*, Center for Global Trade Analysis, Purdue University.

Bohi, D.R. and M.A. Toman (1996), *The Economics of Energy Security*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston.

Böhringer C. and T.F. Rutherford (2010), 'The Costs of Compliance: A CGE Assessment of Canada's Policy Options under the Kyoto Protocol', *World Economy* 33(2), 177-211.

Böhringer, C., Hoffmann, T., Lange, A., Löschel A., and U. Moslener (2005), 'Assessing Emission Regulation in Europe: An Interactive Simulation Approach', *The Energy Journal* 26(4), 1-22.

Böhringer, C., A. Löschel, and T.F. Rutherford (2006), 'Efficiency Gains from "What"-Flexibility in Climate Policy - An Integrated CGE Assessment', *The Energy Journal*, Special Issue #3, 405-424.

Böhringer, C., R.S.J. Tol and T.F. Rutherford (2009a), 'The EU 20/20/2020 Targets: An Overview of the EMF 22 Assessment', *Energy Economics* 31, 268–273.

Böhringer, C., A. Löschel, U. Moslener and T.F. Rutherford (2009b), EU Climate Policy Up to 2020: An Economic Impact Assessment, *Energy Economics* 31, 295–305.

Böhringer, C. and K.E. Rosendahl (2010a), Greening Electricity More Than Necessary: On the Excess Cost of Overlapping Regulation in EU Climate Policy, Discussion paper V-326-10, Oldenburg.

European Commission (2000), *Towards a European strategy for the security of energy supply*, Green Paper, COM(2000) 769 final, Brussels.

European Commission (2008), Second Strategic Energy Review – An EU Energy Security and Solidarity Action *Plan*, COM(2008) 781 final, Brussels.

European Commission (2009), *The EU Climate & Energy Package*, DG Environment, European Commission, Presentation of the Recently Adopted EU Climate and Energy Legislation (Including EU ETS) and Further Steps in its Implementation, Side Event Bonn Climate Change Talks - June 2009 30th Sessions of the UNFCCC Convention Subsidiary Bodies - SBSTA and SBI, 6th session of the AWG-LCA and the 8th session of the AWG-KP.

EIA (2010), *International Energy Outlook*, Energy Information Administration, US Department of Energy, available at http://www.eia.doe.gov/oiaf/ieo/.

Frondel, M. and C.M. Schmidt (2008), *Measuring Energy Security – A Conceptual Note*, Ruhr Economic Papers No. 52, Essen.

IEA (International Energy Agency) (2007), *Energy Security and Climate Policy – Assessing Interactions*, OECD/ IEA, Paris.

IEA (International Energy Agency) (2009), World Energy Outlook 2009, OECD/IEA, Paris.

Lefèvre, N. (2010), 'Measuring the energy security implications of fossil fuel resource concentration', *Energy Policy* 38, 1635-1644.

Löschel, A., U. Moslener and D.T.G. Rübbelke (2010), 'Indicators of energy security in industrialized countries', *Energy Policy* 38, 1665-1671.

Okagawa, A. and K. Ban (2008), *Estimation of Substitution Elasticities for CGE Models*, mimeo, Osaka University, April 2008, available at:http://www.esri.go.jp/jp/workshop/080225/03_report5_Okagawa.pdf

Tinbergen, J. (1952), On the Theory of Economic Policy, North-Holland, Amsterdam.

Wetzelaer, B.J.H.W., N.H. van der Linden, H.C. de Coninck and H. Groenenberg (2007), GHG Maginal Abatement Cost Curves for the Non-Annex I Region, ECN report No. ECN-E--o6-o6o, *ECN Policy Studies*, Petten.

Yergin, D. (1988), 'Energy security in the 1990s', *Foreign Affairs* vol. 67, no. 1, Fall 1988.

Bisher erschienen:

V-297-07	Christoph Böhringer and Carsten Helm, On the Fair Division of Greenhouse Gas
	Abatement Cost
V-298-07	Christoph Böhringer, Efficiency Losses from Overlapping, Regulation of EU
	Carbon Emissions
V-299-07	Udo Ebert, Living standard, social welfare and the redistribution of income in a
	heterogeneous population
V-300-07	Udo Ebert, Recursively aggregable inequality measures: Extensions of Gini's mean
	difference and the Gini coefficient
V-301-07	Udo Ebert. Does the definition of nonessentiality matter? A clarification
V-302-07	Udo Ebert Dominance criteria for welfare comparisons: Using equivalent income to
, 202 0,	describe differences in needs
V-303-08	Heinz Welsch, Jan Kühling Pro-Environmental Behavior and Rational Consumer
1 303 00	Choice: Evidence from Surveys of Life Satisfaction
V-304-08	Christonh Böhringer and Knut Finar Rosendahl Strategic Partitioning of
1 304 00	Emissions Allowances Under the EU Emission Trading Scheme
V 205 08	Niels Anger, Christenh Böhringer and Ulrich Obernderfor, Public Interest vs
v-303-08	Interest Groups: Allowance Allocation in the EU Emissions Trading Scheme
V 206 08	Niels Angen, Christenh Böhringer and Andreas Lange. The Delitical Economy of
v-300-08	Environmental Tax Differentiation: Theory and Empirical Evidence
V 207 09	Livitoinnentai Tax Differentiation. Theory and Empirical Evidence
v-307-08	Sulfur Disside
V 200 00	Sullur Dioxide Tabiag Mang, Haing Walach, Danulation A sing and Environmental Destances in
v-308-08	OECD: The Cose of Air Dollution
V 200 08	Tebiog Mang, Hoing Wolcoh, Life Cuole and Cohort Effects in the Voluction of Air
v-309-08	Pollution, Englance from Subjective Well Dairs Date
V 210 09	Pollution: Evidence from Subjective wen-being Data
v-310-08	WTD and WTA
V 211 00	WIP and WIA
V-511-08	Udo Ebert, weakly decomposable inequality measures
v-512-08	Out Event , Taking empirical studies sentously: The principle of concentration and the
V 212 00	Heiner Welselt, Inclusion of Henrices Desserve for Environmental Esseremies
V-515-09	Heinz Weisch, Implications of Happiness Research for Environmental Economics
v-314-09	Reinz Weisch, Jan Kunling, Determinants of Pro-Environmental Consumption: The
V 215 00	Christenh Bähringer and Knut Finer Degendehl, Creen Serves the Dirtiest. On the
v-515-09	Interaction between Black and Green Quotes
V 216 00	Christenh Böhringer, Andrees Lange and Themes D. Dutherford Descer thy
v-310-09	noighbour versus global environmental concerns: an investigation of alternative
	motives for environmental tax differentiation
V 217 00	Ide Ebert Household willingness to new and income pooling: A comment
V-317-09	Ude Ebert, Household willingliess to pay and income pooling. A comment
v-310-09	out Ebert, Equity-regarding poverty measures. differences in needs and the fole of
V 210 00	Ude Ehert and Heing Welseh. Ontimel response functions in global pollution
v-319-09	problems can be upword cloping. Accounting for edeptation
V 220 10	For the second structure of the second structure of the second second structure of the second s
v-320-10	Edwin van der weri, Uniateral chinate policy, asymmetric backstop adoption, and
V 221 10	Carbon leakage in a two-region Hotening model
V-321-10	Jurgen Bitzer, Ingo Geisnecker, and Philipp J.H. Schröder, Returns to Open
11 222 10	Source Software Engagement: An Empirical Test of the Signaling Hypothesis
V-322-10	Heinz Welsch, Jan Kuhling, Is Pro-Environmental Consumption Utility-Maxi-
11 222 10	mizing? Evidence from Subjective Well-Being Data
V-323-10	Heinz Welsch und Jan Kuhling, Nutzenmaxima, Routinen und Referenzpersonen
V 224 10	beim nachnaltigen Konsum
v-524-10	Udo Ebert, inequality reducing taxation reconsidered
v-325-10	Udo Ebert, The decomposition of inequality reconsidered: Weakly decomposable
11.004.10	measures
v-326-10	Christoph Bohringer and Knut Einar Rosendahl, Greening Electricity More Than
	Necessary: On the Excess Cost of Overlapping Regulation in EU Climate Policy

- V-327-10 Udo Ebert and Patrick Moyes, Talents, Preferences and Inequality of Well-Being
- V-328-10 **Klaus Eisenack**, The inefficiency of private adaptation to pollution in the presence of endogeneous market structure
- V-329-10 **Heinz Welsch**, Stabilität, Wachstum und Well-Being: Wer sind die Champions der Makroökonomie?
- V-330-11 **Heinz Welsch and Jan Kühling**, How Has the Crisis of 2008-2009 Affected Subjective Well-Being?
- V-331-11 Udo Ebert, The redistribution of income when needs differ
- V-332-11 **Udo Ebert and Heinz Welsch**, Adaptation and Mitigation in Global Pollution Problems: Economic Impacts of Productivity, Sensitivity, and Adaptive Capacity
- V-333-11 Udo Ebert and Patrick Moyes, Inequality of Well-Being and Isoelastic Equivalence Scales
- V-334-11 **Klaus Eisenack**, Adaptation financing as part of a global climate agreement: is the adaptation levy appropriate?
- V-335-11 **Christoph Böhringer**, Energy Security: An Impact Assessment of the EU Climate and Energy Package

^{*} Die vollständige Liste der seit 1985 erschienenen Diskussionspapiere ist unter <u>http://www.vw l.uni-oldenburg.de/51615.html</u> zu finden.